RECEIVED

Jan 18 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No. 2022-CP-23-01064

Appellate Case No. 2022-000731

IN THE MATTER OF:
Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch,

STERLING RAYMOND MENSCH, III, individually as former Personal Representative of the Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch and in his former capacity as Agent under a Power of Attorney for Florence Petrak Mensch,

Appellant,

v.

SHAUNA M. WADDELL, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch, and JOHN R. MENSCH,

Respondent.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Does appellate jurisdiction exist where the Probate Court has not yet entered a final, appealable order?
2. If the Probate Court entered a final, appealable order, did the Circuit Court err in holding that Mr. Mensch did not timely appeal that order, even though he timely filed a post-trial motion that tolled the time to appeal?
3. Did the Probate Court have subject-matter jurisdiction to award damages for alleged misconduct that occurred prior to Florence Petrak Mensch's death, when no statute authorizes such jurisdiction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Proceedings in the Probate Court

Florence Petrak Mensch died on April 26, 2018. [R. 65-104].

On January 23, 2019, Appellant Sterling Raymond Mensch, III, filed an application for admission of the decedent's Will and Codicil to the Probate Court. [R. 1-9].

On May 15, 2019, Shauna M. Waddell and John R. Mensch filed a Petition against Mr. Mensch. [R. 1-9]. After Mr. Mensch had been removed as Personal Representative of the Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch, an amended Petition was filed against Mr. Mensch by Shauna M. Waddell, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch; and John R. Mensch against Appellant Mensch, alleging improper management of the Decedent's assets both before and after her death. [R. 1-9; R. 65-104]. Mr. Mensch denied the claims. [R. 105-116].

Following a summary judgment hearing held on March 17, 2021, the Probate Court entered partial summary judgment on liability, as to some claims, in favor of Ms. Waddell and John Mensch. [R. 1-9]. Specifically, the Probate Court entered summary judgment as to liability for breach of fiduciary duty, violation of the Uniform Power of Attorney Act, and conversion. [*Id.*].

The Probate Court held a hearing on the remaining claims, which concluded on September 17, 2021. [R. 10-23].

Without a hearing and without a return to Mr. Mensch's motion, the Probate Court filed an Order on February 17, 2022, stating that Appellant failed to comply with SCRCP 7(b)(1) and denying the motion to alter or amend "[a]fter careful review of the final Order in its entirety." [R. 24].

On February 23, 2022, Respondent served a notice of intent to appeal to the Circuit Court. [R. 9251].

II. Proceedings in the Circuit Court

On appeal to the Circuit Court, Appellant Mensch sought to raise four issues: (1) that this appeal was premature in that no final order had yet been entered below; (2) that the Probate Court did not have jurisdiction to award pre-death damages; (3) that a constructive trust was improperly imposed; and (4) that the award of attorney's fees was improperly calculated. [R. 9267].

On February 25, 2022, Respondent moved to dismiss the appeal as untimely. [R. 7011-7013]. Following a hearing, the Circuit Court rejected Mr. Mensch's position that the appeal was premature, as no final order had been entered below. It also rejected his position that his motion to alter or amend in the Probate Court tolled the deadline to appeal. [R. 28-35]. The Circuit Court's formal order of dismissal was electronically filed on May 17, 2022. [*Id.*].

Mr. Mensch served his notice of appeal to this Court on May 27, 2022. [R. 9271-9230].

ADDITIONAL FACTS

I. Probate Court Findings and Conclusions

Included among the Probate Court's findings and conclusions are the following, which are also relevant to this appeal:

A. Misappropriation of Funds During the Decedent's Lifetime

In 2010, Decedent named the Appellant Mensch as her agent under her durable power of attorney ("POA"), which continued in effect until her death in 2018. [R. 10-23]. The Probate Court found that Appellant Mensch, during the Decedent's lifetime, had made 239 improper transfers from the Decedent's financial accounts into his own. [R. 10-23]. Those transfers totaled \$820,382.00. [*Id.*].

B. Other Misconduct

On April 18, 2007, the Decedent purchased a home located in Greenville, South Carolina. The Decedent never intended to live at the property but intended that Appellant Mensch purchase the home at a later date. [R. 10-23]. Appellant Mensch lived in this home for twelve years and subsequently moved out of the home in September of 2020. [*Id.*]. The Estate paid \$10,000.00 for cleaning and repairs to the property so that it was presentable for potential buyers. [R. 10-23].

From 2010 to 2018, Appellant Mensch failed to file tax returns for the Decedent. [R. 10-23]. Additionally, Appellant Mensch allowed the Decedent's pension to continue to auto deposit after her death. [R. 10-23] After Respondent Waddell was appointed as Personal Representative of the Estate in place of Appellant Mensch, she filed an appeal with

the Internal Revenue Service over a portion of tax penalties. [R. 10-23]. That appeal remains pending.

C. Award of Damages

The Probate Court calculate the \$984,763.00 in damages and fees owed to the Estate as follows:

- \$546,921.00 – misappropriated funds (after credit to Appellant Mensch for the 1/3 portion of the \$820,382 that he would have inherited had the funds not been misappropriated)
- \$24,559.00 – failure to itemize Decedent’s tax return.
- \$40,314.00 – 2018 taxes penalties and interest
- \$13,820 – other tax penalties and interest
- \$163,420 – avoidable income tax due by Appellant Mensch taking more than the required minimum distributions from individual retirement accounts
- \$30,157.00 – pension overpayment
- \$10,000.00 – cost to estate and clean and repair of Tarleton Way
- \$28,000.00 – annual exclusion gift to himself in 2015 and 2016
- \$127,572.00 – attorney’s fees and costs¹

¹ The probate court reduced the requested fee award by \$6,380, which it held were for non-compensable items. [R. 10-23].

As to the \$40,314.00 in taxes, penalties, and interests, the Probate Court stated as follows: “This amount is on appeal with the IRS. [Appellant Mensch] is allowed to reduce the total judgment should this amount change as a result of the appeal.” [R. 10-23]

II. The Circuit Court’s Order of Dismissal

In its order dismissing the appeal, the Circuit Court provided two reasons why it thought that the Probate Court had entered a final order below. First, the Circuit Judge found that nothing would be left for the Probate Court to do once the IRS appeal concluded, as the Order already addressed the possibility of a credit. [R. 28-35]. Second, although jurisdictional, the Circuit Court held that because the issue was not raised and ruled upon in the Probate Court, it could not be asserted for the first time on appeal. [R. 28-35].

As for its reasoning that the appeal was too late, the Circuit Court held that the motion to alter or amend did not give fair notice of the grounds and that the Probate Court could not deal with it fairly. [R. 28-35]. Accordingly, it held that the motion could not toll the time to appeal, thus rendering untimely the notice of intent to appeal to the Circuit Court. [*Id.*].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

All issues presented here are jurisdictional ones and thus are subject to the same standard of review. “The jurisdiction of a court over the subject matter of a proceeding is determined by the Constitution, the laws of the state, and is fundamental. Lack of subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived, even by consent of the parties....” *Anderson v. Anderson*,

299 S.C. 110, 115 (1989). Accordingly, it can be raised “at any stage of the proceeding,” including for the first time on appeal. *Eaddy v. Eaddy*, 283 S.C. 582, 584 (1984). Whether jurisdiction exists is a question of law for the court....” *Chew v. Newsome Chevrolet, Inc.*, 315 S.C. 102, 104 (Ct. App. 1993) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. Appellate Jurisdiction Does Not Exist Where the Probate Court Has Not Yet Entered a Final, Appealable Order.

The Circuit Court should have concluded that the notice of appeal was premature and thus insufficient to confer appellate jurisdiction.

“[A]n appeal is not to be allowed from an inferior tribunal, except where it is expressly granted by law.” *Turner v. Joseph Walker Sch. Dist.*, 215 S.C. 472, 476 (1949) (quotation omitted). The Supreme Court has held that S.C. Code § 62-1-308 provides the exclusive statutory grant of appellate jurisdiction from Probate Code. *Dorn v. Cohen*, 421 S.C. 517, 520 (2017) (rejecting concurrent applicability of jurisdictional grant found in S.C. Code § 14-3-330, which only applies to appeals from Circuit Court).

The General Assembly has decided to only permit appeals from final orders in Probate Court: “A person interested in a final order, sentence, or decree of a probate court may appeal to the circuit court....” S.C. Code § 62-1-308(a). The entry of an interlocutory order in Probate Court confers no appellate jurisdiction. *See, e.g., Fulmer v. Cain*, 380 S.C. 466,

470 (2008) (holding that denial of motion to remove action from Probate Court to Circuit Court was not immediately appealable).²

South Carolina law takes a strict view of finality. “If there is some further act which must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties, then the order is interlocutory [rather than final]. If a judgment determines the applicable law while leaving open questions of fact, it is not a final judgment.” *Mid-State Distribs. v. Century Imps.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335 (1993) (quotation omitted).

Contrary to the Circuit Court’s holding, [R. 28-35], the Probate Court’s order of January 26, 2022, cannot be deemed a final order for appeal purposes because “open questions of fact” remain and the order left “further act[s]” for the probate judge to do, *id.* As to the former, the order set a damages figure of \$984,763—provided that the Estate’s appeal to the IRS is ultimately unsuccessful. [R.10-23 & n.10 (including in the damage award \$40,314.00 unpaid taxes, penalties, and interest but further providing as follows: “This amount is on appeal with the IRS. SRM is allowed to reduce the total Judgment should this amount change as a result of the appeal.”)]. An open question of fact thus exists as to the (eventual) result of the IRS appeal. Further, if the Probate Court later finds as a matter of fact that the Estate did succeed in reducing or eliminating the taxes, penalties, and interest,

² A constitutional exception exists when a court deprives a party of a trial by jury. *See id.* That exception is not relevant here.

the Probate Court would then have an additional act to perform—that is, to modify the judgment amount.

The potential need to modify the judgment amount poses several practical issues that amplify the prematurity of an appeal. First, as a nonparty to the IRS appeal, Mr. Mensch will not receive notice of the IRS' decision. Second, there may be no procedural vehicle to use to effect the change in the judgment. While the “IRS appeal could take a substantial amount of time,” [R. 28-35], post-judgments motions based on new evidence cannot be “more than one year after the judgment.” R. 60, SCRCF. *See also Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 495 (1992) (“The petitioners are correct in stating that one year is the absolute time limit [for motions under R. 60(b)(1)-(3), SCRCF].”).

Insofar as the Circuit Court thought that the issue of finality had to be raised and ruled upon the Probate Court, [R. 28-35], the Circuit Court was mistaken there, too. For one thing, the raised-and-ruled-upon requirement is only a doctrine of error preservation. *Roche v. S.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n.*, 263 S.C. 451, 455 (1975) (“[T]he purpose of appeal under our procedure is to determine if the lower court did something that it should not have done, or omitted doing something it should have done. Accordingly, a trial judge will not be reversed for failing to act on a matter that was not submitted to him.” (citation omitted)). But the requirement of finality is a limitation on the Circuit Court's (and this Court's) authority—not on the Probate Court. Furthermore, the law in this State is well

settled that jurisdiction “can be raised for the first time on appeal.” *Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248 (Ct. App. 1998) (citations omitted).

Unlike appeals from the Family and Circuit Court—in which interlocutory appeals are also statutorily authorized for orders that determine some “substantial matter” in the case, *Stone v. Thompson*, 426 S.C. 291, 294 (2019) (citation omitted)—the General Assembly has decided that appeals from Probate Court must await final judgment, despite the accompanying delay.³ S.C. Code § 62-1-308(a). Mr. Mensch’s notice of appeal (which was filed out of an abundance of caution) was premature; therefore, no appellate jurisdiction yet exists. This Court should vacate the Circuit Court’s judgment and remand with instructions to dismiss the appeal as premature.

II. If the Probate Court Entered a Final Order, Mr. Mensch Timely Appealed It Because His Motion to Alter or Amend Tolded the Time to Appeal.

If the time to appeal had begun because a final order had been entered, the Circuit Court should have proceeded to the merits of the appeal, rather than concluding that Mr. Mensch had appealed too late, [R. 28-35].

“The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP) adopted for the circuit court and other rules of procedure in this title govern formal proceedings [under the Probate

³ If Respondent would rather not wait for the IRS appeal to conclude before obtaining a final judgment, a readily available option exists: Dismiss the claim for the \$40,314.00 after remand. Once the Probate Court accepts that dismissal, the judgment for the remaining items can be reviewed on appeal.

Code].” S.C. Code § 62-1-304. Under the Rules of Civil Procedure, “[t]he time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed by a timely motion [to alter or amend under R. 59, SCRCPP] and shall run from the receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motions.” R. 59(f), SCRCPP.

In contrast to the federal system, the South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the plain-error doctrine and insist that alleged errors be raised and ruled upon at the trial level. *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 24 (2004). Consequently, parties are not only encouraged to file motions to alter or amend, but sometimes required to do so. *Id.*

“Our mandatory preservation requirements make it doubly important that litigants generally be freely allowed to file a first, written Rule 59(e) motion without concern a later appeal will be deemed untimely.” *Id.* at 25. To that end (and again in contrast to the federal system), even though R. 7(b)(1), SCRCPP, requires motions to “state with particularity the grounds therefor,” *id.*, our Supreme Court has determined that a motion that fails to comply with that rule can still toll the time for appeal. *Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 576 (2010) (reversing Court of Appeals’ dismissal of the appeal). *See also id.* at 578 (Waller, J., dissenting) (criticizing majority for holding that time to appeal can be tolled via “a post-trial motion that identifies neither the grounds on which it relies nor the relief sought” (quotation omitted)). “When neither party is prejudiced and the court is able to deal fairly with a motion for reconsideration, applying an overly technical reading of the rules does not serve the purpose of Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCPP.” *Id.* at 576. A party can only be prejudiced from a

lack of notice under Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP, if the party can “establish if he or she had received appropriate notice, he or she would have done something different, thereby affecting the decision of the trial court and advancing his or her case.” *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 381 S.C. 508, 517 (Ct. App. 2009) (citation omitted).

Given the high bar for prejudice—particularly where a post-trial motion is denied and the original order stands—skeletal post-trial motions have been approved so as to enable appellate review of a trial outcome. For example, in *Camp*, the Supreme Court accepted a post-trial motion that merely asked the trial judge “to reconsider the ruling in his Order dated July 26, 2006, in awarding Plaintiff, William James Camp's college expenses and costs.” *Camp*, 386 S.C at 573-74 (quoting post-trial motion). Likewise, this Court recently held that a skeletal post-trial motion that read as follows was sufficient to toll the time to appeal in the absence of any record evidence of prejudice:

This motion is based upon the applicable Rules of Court, South Carolina case law, and any affidavits and/or memorandum which may be filed prior to the hearing. Davis Roofing further alleges that Davis Roofing is prompt in filing for relief, the existence of meritorious defenses, and Nexstar and Mahoney will not be adversely prejudiced.

Nexstar Media Grp., Inc. v. Davis Roofing Grp., LLC, 431 S.C. 593, 598 (Ct. App. 2020) (brackets omitted).

Here, although the Probate Court’s Order of January 26, 2022, addressed both liability and damages, Mr. Mensch’s February 2, 2022, motion indicated that he sought “to alter or amend the Order granting [the Estate] damages.” [R. 7008-7010]. In that sense, it was as

particular as the motion in *Camp* and more particular than the motion in *Nexstar*. Because the Probate Court denied that motion without a hearing, the Estate could not have suffered prejudice, as the Estate has never argued that it “would have done something different,” much less that, having taken that different course of action, it would have “affect[ed] the decision of the trial court and advanced [its] case.” *Chastain*, 381 S.C. at 517. After all, it won the motion. Even the Probate Judge was not inconvenienced. The judge did not hold a hearing but indicated that she would deny the motion “[a]fter a careful review of the final Order in its entirety....” [R. 24]. Consequently, Mr. Mensch’s motion sufficed to toll the time to appeal, rendering timely his notice of appeal filed and served six days after that motion was denied. [R. 9251-9266].

III. The Probate Court Lacked Subject-Matter Jurisdiction to Award Damages for any Misconduct Prior to Florence Petrak Mensch’s Death.⁴

Under our constitution, the Circuit Court is this state’s general trial court with original jurisdiction in all civil cases except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction lies in an inferior court. S.C. Const. art. V, § 11. Because the Probate Court is not a constitutional court, its subject-matter jurisdiction is limited to those classes of cases that the General Assembly has authorized by statute. *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 169 (2011); *Kosciusko v.*

⁴ If this Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal either because no final judgment has issued or because the appeal was not timely filed, the Court will not be able to reach this issue. Instead, Mr. Mensch will be required to file a R. 60(b)(4), SCRCP, motion in the Probate Court. Mr. Mensch sought, but was denied, leave from this Court to file that motion during the pendency of this appeal. *See* R. 60(b), SCRCP (“During the pendency of an appeal, leave to make the motion must be obtained from the appellate court.”).

Parham, 428 S.C. 481, 492 (Ct. App. 2019). *Cf also*

As explained below, S.C. § 62-3-302(a) does not confer jurisdiction to adjudicate pre-death claims. While S.C. Code § 62-3-302(b) does confer some jurisdiction over pre-death claims, the grant of jurisdiction extends only to settlement approval and disbursement, which were not at issue here.

A. S.C. Code § 62-3-302(a)’s General Grant of Jurisdiction of “Estates” Does Not Include Pre-Death Claims.

The Probate Court’s general jurisdictional grant extends, as relevant here, to “estates of decedents, including the contest of wills, construction of wills, determination of property in which the estate of a decedent or a protected person has an interest, and determination of heirs and successors of decedents and estates of protected persons...” S.C. Code § 62-3-302(a)(1).

Insofar as the Respondents sought to adjudicate claims for alleged misconduct predating the Decedent’s death, they were not administering an “estate” within the meaning of the Probate Code. Indeed, the “claims[] that Probate Court can administer are those “which arise at or after the death of the decedent.” S.C. Code § 62-2-201(4). Thus, an estate can use the Probate Court to authorize the recovery for damages to or theft of property after a person has died, that authority does not extend to adjudicating pre death damage or theft. *See generally Greenfield v. Greenfield*, 245 S.C. 604 (1965) (recognizing that a person who takes or injures a decedent’s property after the decedent’s death can be liable in the Probate Court as an executor de son tort).

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