RECEIVED

Feb 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Common Pleas Case No. 2022-CP-23-01064

Appellate Case No. 2022-000731

---

IN THE MATTER OF:

Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch,

Sterling Raymond Mensch, III,  
individually as former Personal Representative  
of the Estate of Florence Petrak Mensch and  
in his former capacity as Agent under a Power  
of Attorney for Florence Petrak Mensch

*Appellant,*

v.

Shauna M. Waddell, individually and as  
Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Florence Petrak Mensch and John R.  
Mensch

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

### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **I. Appellant may not challenge subject matter jurisdiction.**

The dispute regarding Sterling Mensch's breach of his duties towards Florence Mensch and her successors in interest began when he was acting as her power of attorney. Following her death, litigation ensued between the parties. In the action, Sterling Mensch litigated vigorously in the probate court of Greenville County the issues raised by the pleadings in the underlying action. After an adverse verdict against him, Mr. Mensch filed an appeal with the circuit court for Greenville County specifically asserting the jurisdiction of the circuit court. In that appeal Mr. Mensch specifically contended that the probate court order was final. It goes without saying that Mr. Mensch could not have filed an appeal of an order that was not "final". Thereafter, apparently

for strategic reasons, Mr. Mensch took the position that the circuit court had no appellate jurisdiction because there was no “final order” from the probate court. Nowhere at the trial court level did Mr. Mensch ever challenge the jurisdiction of the probate court prior to the issuance of the final order dated January 26, 2022. While it is true that subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, even on appeal, it is also true that a party may not invoke the provisions of Rule 60(b) where it is clear the issue could have been litigated at trial.

“[A]ll this Court has ever required is that the questions presented for its decision must first have been fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court.” *Hubbard v. Rowe*, 192 S.C. 12, 5 S.E.2d 187 (1939). An argument that is not raised to an intermediate appellate court is not preserved for review by this Court. *United Dom. Realty Trust v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 102, 413 S.E.2d 866 (Ct.App.1992). Even though subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at anytime, there is no error preservation exception allowing a party to bypass calling an erroneous ruling to the attention of the tribunal making it before appealing that ruling to a higher court. *Compare Dunlap & Dunlap v. Zimmerman*, 188 S.C. 322, 199 S.E. 296 (1938) (once the issue of subject matter jurisdiction has been decided adversely to a party, he must preserve his exception or be barred from raising the issue later); *cf. DeTreville v. Groover*, 219 S.C. 313, 65 S.E.2d 232 (1951) (party abandoned subject matter jurisdiction issue by failing to argue it in brief). The State failed to ask the circuit judge to reconsider her subject matter jurisdiction ruling before appealing the order to this Court. Accordingly, it has failed to preserve any issue related to that ruling for our review. *See City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007) (holding Rule 59 applies to circuit court sitting in appellate capacity to review criminal

convictions); *State v. Bailey*, 368 S.C. 39, 626 S.E.2d 898 (Ct.App.2006), *cert. denied*, March 8, 2007 (circuit court's appellate error must be called to its attention by petition for rehearing in order to be preserved for further appellate review).

Appellant continues to try and seek the same relief while ignoring on-point adverse rulings against him. By his Order dated May 17, 2022 the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr. found that Judge Faulkner's order for damages was a final order and therefore denied appellant's request that the case be remanded to the probate court. Judge Kinlaw also dismissed respondent's appeal of the probate court orders, including Judge Faulkner's final order dated January 22, 2022. No motion to reconsider was filed with the circuit court.

From a procedural perspective, up to this point the appellant Sterling Mensch has noticed an appeal from probate court to circuit court but then argued that no appellate jurisdiction exists because the probate court did not issue a "final order". (Notwithstanding the fact it was appellant who appealed this "non-final" order from probate court to circuit court.) Then, Mr. Mensch argues the probate court had no jurisdiction (yet admitted jurisdiction in his answer) to address the litigation before it. Now Mr. Mensch comes before this court continuing to attempt to advance the same inconsistent arguments. Specifically, the arguments in this appeal illustrate the conflicting positions taken by Mr. Mensch. In this appeal he seeks a ruling from this court that the probate court lacked subject matter jurisdiction then argues that the probate court which lacked subject matter jurisdiction issued an order Mr. Mensch appealed, but that order was not final. Mr. Mensch goes on to argue that if there was jurisdiction and the probate court entered a final order, that final order was timely appealed because his motion to alter or amend tolled the deadline to appeal. Mr.

Mensch cannot have his cake and eat it too. As he did in all of the underlying actions, Mr. Mensch changes his position not in accordance with the facts, but in accordance with his view of what position may be most helpful to advance at any given time. The court should not condone such conduct. Appellant continues to misapprehend the import and application of the rules of civil procedure to his conduct in this matter versus conduct referenced in case law cited in his brief.

For instance, *Nextstar Media Group, Inc. vs. Davis Roofing Group, LLC*, 431 S.C., 593, 848 S.E. 2d 597 (S.C. App. 2020) did not hold that a skeleton post trial motion was sufficient to toll the time for appeal. Rather, based on the facts presented, the appeals court disagreed that the motion for reconsideration lacked sufficient specificity pursuant to Rule 7.

With regard to appellant's continuing arguments that the probate court did not have jurisdiction of various claims before it, appellant continues his incorrect analysis of the applicable law. By way of additional example, appellant cites *Roche vs. SC Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n*, 263 S.C. 451, 211 S.E. 2d 243(1975) for the proposition that the raised and ruled upon requirement is only a doctrine of error preservation. In point of fact, *Roche* illustrates an example where the appellate court refused to address two issues before it as neither issue was raised in the court below. Hence the inclusion in the quotation from *Roche* contained in appellant's brief "accordingly, a trial judge will not be reversed for failing to act on a matter that was not submitted to him." *Roche*, 263 S.C. at 245, 211 S.E. 2d at 455.

Sterling Mensch was ordered by the probate court to pay almost \$1,000,000.00 immediately to the personal representative of his mother's estate. Mr. Mensch literally destroyed his mother's financial situation beginning while she was alive and continuing following her death. Once caught, Mr. Mensch has attempted to drag out the litigation against him in hopes of avoiding

his day of reckoning. It is time to bring an end to Mr. Mensch's efforts to cheat his mother and following her death, her estate.

## **II. The probate court had jurisdiction over the entire action.**

Appellant contends, that his misdeeds undertaken pursuant to his Power of Attorney before the death of his mother are somehow out of reach of the probate court. Notwithstanding his agreement as to jurisdiction over both the subject matter and parties made in his pleadings, Sterling Mensch now contends the probate court could not issue its order because it had no jurisdiction over actions which were taken prior to Ms. Mensch's death. Appellant references several statutes in his initial brief which have nothing to do with the primary cause of action in this case which was an action requesting the court to restore the value of the Estate to what it would have been had the violations not occurred pursuant to S.C. Code § 62-8-117 of the South Carolina Power of Attorney Act. Appellant cites S.C. Code § 62-2-201 which is the statute concerning a spouse's elective share, but appears to be arguing that the creditor's claims statute S.C. Code § 62-3-804 somehow applies to prevent the court from having jurisdiction over pre-death claims by the estate or the beneficiaries of the estate. The creditor's claim statute concerns claims by creditors against a decedent's estate, not claims the estate has against an agent under a power of attorney. S.C. Code § 62-3-302 is referenced by Appellant which has nothing to do with the probate court's jurisdiction (it concerns informal probates).

It has already been submitted and established that the probate court had jurisdiction over the matters before it. Obviously, probate courts are not limited in jurisdiction to merely matters that

take place after death. Rather, probate courts are given jurisdiction, both individually and concurrently, for many matters that take place prior to death. By way of example and exceptionally relevant to the arguments asserted in this case, is the case of *Vaughn v. Bernhardt*, 339 S.C. 125, 528 S. E. 2d 82 (S.C. App. 2000) in which the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court which had affirmed the probate court in determining that funds in a joint account belonged to the estate of Mary Henrietta Bernhardt. Just like the probate court in this case, the court of appeals in *Vaughn* determined the probate court had jurisdiction. Among the reasons for finding jurisdiction was the fact that the legislation amending Section 34-11-10 made it subject to the provisions of Section 62-6-101, et seq. of the Probate Code. As with the Power of Attorney in this case, it is clear that the probate court has jurisdiction to deal with fraud, misrepresentations and similar conduct occurring not only pursuant to a power of attorney, but also such actions undertaken following death or resulting damages occurring after death.

Furthermore, the probate court clearly has jurisdiction pursuant to § 62-8-117 of the South Carolina Power of Attorney Act, which states, “An agent that violates this article is liable to the principal or to the principal’s successors in interest for the amount required to: (1) restore the value of the principal’s property to what it would have been had the violation not occurred. . .” The violations contemplated by this act will nearly always be before the death of the principal considering a power of attorney is only applicable while the principal is alive. The inclusion in the statute of **successors in interest** clearly accounts for a principal who has passed away after the violations occurred. Pursuant to § 62-8-117 of the South Carolina Power of Attorney Act, the probate court certainly has jurisdiction to restore the value of the Estate to what it would have been had the violations of the power of attorney not occurred, which is exactly what Judge Faulkner did

in her final Order.

In addition to the prior examples of probate court jurisdiction of pre-death actions, if the probate court did not have jurisdiction to address pre-death actions and misdeeds, there would be no ability for a final accounting to be prepared and addressed by the probate court as described in S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-805.

The purpose of the four-day trial on damages and the resulting final Order of Judge Faulkner was to restore the value of the Estate to what it would have been had Sterling Mensch not so egregiously violated his duties as agent under power of attorney for Florence Mensch.

### **III. Appeal is untimely.**

In *Camp v. Camp*, the Court of Appeals stated, “‘A timely post-trial motion, including a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(f), SCRCF, stays the time for an appeal for all parties until receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.’” *Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 575, 689 S.E.2d 634, 636 (2010) (quoting *Elam v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004)); Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR; Rule 59(f), SCRCF. “Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCF requires that motions ‘shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought.’” *Camp*, 386 S.C. at 575, 689 S.E.2d at 636. “The particularity requirement ‘is to be read flexibly in recognition of the peculiar circumstances of the case.’” *Id.* (quoting *Cambridge Plating Co., Inc. v. Napco, Inc.*, 85 F.3d 752, 760 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir.1996)). “ ‘By requiring notice to the court and the opposing party of the basis for the motion, rule 7(b)(1) advances the policies of reducing prejudice to either party and assuring that the court can comprehend the basis of the motion and deal with it fairly.’ *Id.* (quoting *Calderon v. Kansas*

*Dep't of Soc. & Rehab. Servs.*, 181 F.3d 1180, 1186 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir.1999)). The Court in *Camp* further stated, “The purposes of insufficient and successive post-trial motions appear to be the same: both attempt to buy time without asserting a meritorious claim. These tactics further neither justice nor efficiency, and we cannot facilitate their use. *Id.*”

The holding in *Camp* was overruled by the Supreme Court, but for reasons that do not exist in the present case. The Supreme Court held that “we do not believe applying the particularity requirement in an overly technical fashion **in this case** would serve the purpose behind the rule.” (emphasis added) However, the Supreme Court goes on to state that it is not necessary to apply the particularity requirement in that case because (1) neither party was prejudiced and (2) the court was able to both comprehend the motion and deal with it fairly.

In the case at bar, Appellant did not state sufficient grounds for the relief sought, leaving the Court unable to comprehend the motion or deal with it fairly. Unlike cases in which the court and the parties can comprehend the basis of the motion and deal with it fairly, in this case Judge Faulkner specifically found in her February 23, 2022 order “the bare request to the Court to amend the Order under Rule 59 fails to give notice to the Court and opposing counsel of the relief being requested of the Court.”

In the February Order, Judge Faulkner referenced the S.C. Supreme Court Order of February 4, 2022 regarding the operation of trial courts during the Coronavirus Emergency which directs that hearings on motions should be minimized. The Order directs trial judges to dispose of motions without merit without waiting on a return or other response from opposing counsel. Therefore, **in this case** Appellant did not state sufficient grounds or relief sought and the court was unable to comprehend the motion or deal with it fairly.

Judge Faulkner's order denying the motion to alter or amend is consistent with the spirit and letter of Rule 7(b)(1). No overly technical application of the Rule was being applied nor asked for. It was incumbent upon Appellant to comply with the requirements of Rule 7(b)(1) in order to trigger the stay provided by Rule 59(f).

The legal effect of Appellant's failure to specify the grounds of his motion is that the filing of the motion did not stay the time for appeal pursuant to Rule 59(f), SCRCP. Therefore, Appellant's notice of appeal was untimely. As such, Appellant has failed to comply with the provisions of

S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-308(a) by appealing in a timely fashion the Probate Court's order for damages dated January 26<sup>th</sup>, 2022. This failure to timely appeal was confirmed by the circuit court. As noted by Judge Kinlaw in his order filed May 17, 2022:

the legal effect of appellant's failure to specify the grounds of his motion is that the filing of the motion did not stay a time for appeal pursuant to Rule 59(f), SCRCP. Therefore, appellant's notice of appeal was untimely. As such, appellant has failed to comply with the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-308(a) by appealing in a timely fashion the probate court's order for damages dated January 26, 2022. Based on the foregoing, this court dismisses the appeal of the underlying orders from the probate court as there exists no appellate jurisdiction of this court.

(ROA P. 33-34)

Based on the foregoing, it is respectfully submitted this Court must dismiss the appeal as there existed no appellate jurisdiction in the circuit court from which to appeal to this court.

#### **IV. Judicial Estoppel.**

"Judicial estoppel precludes a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation." *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997). "Judicial estoppel comes into play when the court is forced to take a

position based on a factual assertion." *Hawkins v. Bruno Yacht Sales, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 31, 43, 577 S.E.2d 202, 208 (2003); see also *Commerce Ctr. of Greenville, Inc. v. W. Powers McElveen & Assocs., Inc.*, 347 S.C. 545, 554 n.6, 556 S.E.2d 718, 723 n.6 (Ct. App. 2001)

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